
 

MARICOPA ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENTS 
CONTINUUM OF CARE PLANNING SUBCOMMITTEE 

MEETING MINUTES 
SEPTEMBER 21, 2009 

 
Members Attending 

Theresa James, City of Tempe, Chair 
Greg Boone, Labor’s Community Service 
Agency 
Robert Duvall, Community Information & 
Referral 
Richard Geasland, Tumbleweed 
Katie Hobbs, Sojourner Center 
Tim Cole for Deanna Jonovich, City of 
Phoenix 
*Nick Margiotta, Phoenix Police             
Department 
Elizabeth Morales, AZ Behavioral Health 
Corporation 
Linda Mushkatel, Maricopa County 
*Darlene Newsom, UMOM New Day Center 
Amy Schwabenlender, Valley of the Sun 
United Way 
Laura Skotnicki, Save the Family  
 

*John Wall, Central Arizona Shelter Services 
*Lisa Wilson, City of Mesa 
*Diana Yazzie Devine, Native American 
Connections 

 
Others Present 

Christina Soto, Catholic Charities 
Michelle Thomas, Community Information 
and Referral 
Stacy Miller, Recovery Innovations of 
Arizona 
Amy Vogelson, SBH 
 
Brande Mead, MAG 
Rachel Brito, MAG 
 
*Those members neither present nor 
represented by proxy.  
+Present by audio or videoconference. 

 
 
1. Call to Order and Introductions 

Chair Theresa James called the meeting to order at 2:07 p.m.  Introductions ensued. 
 

2. Call to the Audience 
Audience members were given an opportunity to address the Planning Subcommittee.  No 
public comments were made.  

 
3. Approval of June 15, 2009 Meeting Minutes 

Chair James called for a motion to approve the June 15, 2009 meeting minutes.  Brande 
Mead, MAG, requested the minutes be amended to include the last name for Vicki Rainey, 
Recovery Innovation of Arizona, under “Other’s Present”.  Richard Geasland, Tumbleweed 
Center for Youth Development, made a motion to approve the minutes as amended.  Greg 
Boone seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.  
 

4. 2009 Gaps Analysis Process 
Chair James introduced Ms. Mead to discuss the 2009 gaps analysis process and tools that 
should be used to determine unmet need.   Ms. Mead said the Subcommittee has come up 
with a similar process each year for developing homeless indicators. The process includes 
community discussion with experts to determine unmet need for that year.  Ms. Mead said a 



 

recommendation was made last year for the Subcommittee to use HUD’s formula for 
determining unmet need and to compare results to the homeless indicators already being 
collected.   Ms. Mead introduced ASU Intern Rhucha Samudra who has assisted her in 
reviewing the HUD formula.  Ms. Mead pointed out information not currently collected, but 
that would be required to be able to use HUD’s formula.   This includes forecasting the 
number of beds in emergency shelter for people who will only need emergency housing or 
transitional housing.   
 
Ms. Mead referred to the Maricopa Association of Governments Continuum of Care 
Regional Committee on Homelessness 2009 Unmet Needs Survey, for discussion on how to 
collect the missing information.  She gave a brief overview of the survey explanation and 
questions that would be asked of providers.  Ms. Samudra said meetings would be held with 
shelter providers for the purpose of distributing the survey and engaging in discussion.  Ms. 
Mead asked the Subcommittee for their recommendation on whether or not to use HUD’s 
formula this year and for input on the best way to collect the necessary data.  
 
Linda Mushkatel, Maricopa County Chief Resource Office, asked for information on the 
positive and negative impacts of using or not using HUD’s formula.  Ms. Mead said the 
concern is that the current process is not scientific.  Laura Skotnicki asked if the survey 
includes housing choice vouchers and homeless prevention and rapid re-housing funds.  Ms. 
Mead clarified the survey looks only at shelter beds noting the number of unsheltered people 
is available from the street count.  She said the number of people in emergency shelter and 
the total number of beds under development are also available.  The only missing 
information is forecasting for emergency shelter beds.  Ms. Mead said outreach teams would 
need to be surveyed to ask their opinions on what percentage of people on the street would 
need emergency or transitional housing. 
 
Mr. Geasland said it appears as though HUD’s formula would discount data on the number of 
families and homeless children.   Ms. Mead said the formula does not take into consideration 
evictions or foreclosures which can account homeless families.  Ms. Skotnicki said 
emergency shelters may not work with a family long enough to determine their needs for 
permanent supportive housing.   Amy Schwabenlender, Valley of the Sun United Way, 
suggested using an adjusted formula that would make it more analytical and could become a 
basis for greater points from HUD.  Ms. Brande said the Continuum has received full points 
from HUD in the past for the gaps analysis portion of the application.  Elizabeth Morales, 
Arizona Behavioral Health Corp., said the percentages are very subjective and not scientific 
as they require providers to guess on the percentages.  Chair James said it would be 
beneficial to survey actual clients.  She offered to conduct a survey through an outreach team 
she oversees in Tempe.  
 
Robert Duvall, Community Information and Referral suggested using the five years of data 
available in HMIS to review the total number of clients that have gone through the system.  
He said using predetermined criteria; the data can provide information on the percentage of 
people more likely to go into permanent supportive housing. 
 



 

Ms. Morales suggest the information be based on what is available, and not what people want 
noting any person surveyed would want permanent supportive housing.  She asked to clarify 
if the Continuum wants to demonstrate what is happening or where people want to go.  Ms. 
Mead said there are different categories reported to HUD and as such, there are a variety of 
indicators that have been looked at in the past.  She asked if the survey could be used as a 
starting point to compare with the current indicators.   Mr. Geasland said the HMIS 
information would provide a matrix of historical data.  Mr. Duvall suggested the data would 
also be a start to developing unmet needs if the numbers are broken down from a scientific 
basis as opposed to surveying clients.   
 
Ms. Mead said the formula looks at the number of units available, the number under 
development and compares those to the number of homeless and number on persons on the 
streets.  However, she said is does not take into account evictions.  Ms. Morales 
recommended utilizing the HMIS data as part of the decision making process; and not using 
the HUD formula.  Mr. Duvall added the information can be extrapolated from HMIS 
without having to go to the clients.  
 
Ms. Mead clarified the recommendation not to interview clients; but to gather the data from 
the providers through HMIS.  She said this would be a less burdensome compromise to using 
the HUD formula.  Ms. Mushkatel suggested sending HMIS data to the providers to test if 
the data is accurate.  Ms. Mead summarized the discussion to use HMIS data to complete the 
survey and obtain forecasting numbers.  She asked for other data sources for homeless 
indicators.   Ms. Mushkatel recommended sending HMIS data to providers via email and 
using those figures to forecast.  She said the information is only as good as what goes in 
therefore providers need to verify the information is reasonably accurate.  Mr. Duvall said he 
would confirm all providers are comfortable with using the HMIS data and/or have a 
dialogue with them.   
 
Ms. Morales suggested using ABC homeless wait list as an indicator.  Ms. Mead confirmed 
and asked if there are other wait lists or vacancy data that should be included.  She asked if 
information on vacant beds is available through HMIS.  Mr. Duvall said vacant bed data is 
not available through HMIS, but is available through the point-in-time.   Ms. Skotnicki asked 
if the recent survey by Christine Glass will be included.  Ms. Mead said the study is pending 
approval by the Continuum of Care Regional Committee on Homelessness; schedule for 
October.  
 
Mr. Geasland recommenced using the DES homeless report for additional indicators. Ms. 
Mead also suggested DES youth numbers and wait list data; she asked whether or not to add 
evictions.  Ms. Mushkatel asked if the conversion factor of eviction to homeless is known.  
The group discussed data available specific to evictions versus foreclosures.  They agreed it 
would be difficult to determine how many people become homeless due to evictions.  Mr. 
Geasland suggested a better option would be to review the number of persons in the system 
that listed homeless as a result of foreclosure.  Mr. Duvall suggested looked at the past three 
years of data.   Ms. Morales recommended accessing information from hospitals as to how 
many people indicate they are homelessness.   She offered to research a source of 
information.   



 

 
Ms. Mead advised the gaps analysis meeting is scheduled for October 5, 2009 to discus 
homeless indicators and determine whether or not to conduct a survey.  However, she noted 
the direction from the Subcommittee is to utilize HMIS data, look at preliminary numbers, 
then schedule another meeting once the HUD application is available to determine the 
numbers to be used in the application.   

 
5. 2009 Regional Plan to End Homelessness Implementation Progress Report 

Brande mead provided an update on the progress of implementation of action steps in 2009 
Regional Plan to End Homelessness.  She said there have been quite a few action steps with 
some progress made and/or completed.  She asked the Subcommittee to provide input on 
how to track the progress and move forward on the actions steps.   Greg Boone, Labor’s 
Community Service Agency, asked about the timeline for completion. Ms. Mead said the 
assumption is at least 10 years. 
 
Ms. Mead advised there were several working groups at the summit. She asked the 
Subcommittee for their preference on having those groups report back in person or provide 
written status updates.    Ms. Morales said key people identified in the group she worked with 
however, they have been waiting for contact information to be distributed to be able to begin 
the work.  She suggested having presentations made in person.   Ms. Mead said many of the 
working groups have not met since the summit.  Ms. Mushkatel said there are no dates tied to 
the steps which would help keep the process moving.  She recommended implementing 
timelines as the groups reconvene.  
 
Ms. Mead said the overarching goals and actions steps formed by each group are more 
definitive.  She offered to email that information to the Subcommittee and ask the groups for 
updates on their initial progress.  Verbal updates can be scheduled for November if desired 
by the Subcommittee.   Amy Schwabenlender, Valley of the Sun United Way, recommended 
identifying who will lead each group as there were varying levels of accountability.    Ms. 
Mead said the next steps are to notify the groups of their members’ contact information and 
projected dates.  Mr. Boone recommended asking the group facilitator to contact the 
members of the group and address the action steps and then report back to the Subcommittee 
in November or January.   
 
Mr. Geasland requested group information be provided to the Subcommittee via email.  Ms. 
Morales suggested November would be too soon for progress reports if the groups have not 
yet met.   Ms. Mead will distribute the calendar for future meetings and request updates from 
the working groups.   Chair James said it is important to have this as a standing item on the 
agenda. 
 
 Ms. Schwabenlender referenced the DRAFT – Progress as of August 2009, page six, long-
term goal 23.  She said the goal is based on partnerships to create 4000 housing unites in 10 
years.  However, they are currently working with 1000 units in six years; 75 percent of the 
goal for chronic homeless and long term.  Ms. Mead noted HUD contracts are delayed.   
 



 

Mr. Geasland suggested reviewing a piece of the plan at each meeting to continue moving 
forward.   Ms. Mead asked for clarification to focus on different category levels at either the 
Planning Subcommittee or Continuum of Care level.  Ms. Schwabenlender suggested it 
would have a lot of value at the Continuum of Care level.   Ms. Skotnicki referenced goal 
numbers eight and twenty-one and asked for updates on the number of people who attended 
training September.   Ms. Mead reported more than 100 people attended the SSI training in 
February; and 40 attended the most recent training.    
 

6. 2010 Homeless Street Count 
Ms. Mead discussed the process planned for the 2010 Homeless Street Count.  Last year, the 
process started in October; this year it will start in September.  She gave a brief overview of 
the process which involves identifying street count coordinators for each city and county and 
then working with them to develop a plan.  Trainings are held in the East and West Valley 
and MAG provides technical assistance.  
 
Ms. Mead said street count coordinators are being identified and confirmed.  She said most 
cities and towns have a process they have used for several years and want to continue; others 
are developing new processes.  Ms. Mead advised Tim Cole, City of Phoenix, will attend the 
East and West Valley trainings to speak about the City of Phoenix model.  They are 
encouraging cities and towns to consider replicating the City of Phoenix model.  
 
Ms. Mead asked for recommended changes to the process.  Ms. Mushkatel asked how the 
street count and census information would interface.  Ms. Mead advised both are separate 
counts.   Ms. Mead said although the Census conducts a count, those numbers are not 
available and therefore not reported.  The Census does not report homeless data.   Ms. 
Schwabenlender acknowledged Tim Cole and the City of Phoenix for their process.  She 
asked if a standardized process can be approved by the Continuum of Care to get all cities 
moving to same level.  Mr. Boone asked for information on the differences among cities.  
 
Mr. Cole advised the City of Phoenix uses of process of grids and maps that others cities do 
not use. Additionally, he said duplicate counting can occur with people moving from 
quadrant to quadrant throughout the day.  He suggested first identifying coordinators who 
have the ability to change the process as away to start standardizing the street count.   Mr. 
Cole said the process is getting much better and noted the City of Glendale is now using the 
City of Phoenix model.   Ms. Mead advised the City of Chandler had also implemented 
changes.  She suggested meeting with all of the coordinators as a first step to standardizing 
the street count.  Mr. Cole agreed noting consensus is needed from the first level before any 
changes can be made.   Ms. Mead asked if bringing coordinators together in October would 
allow enough time to conduct a regional count.  Mr. Cole said it can probably be done if 
there is enough buy-in.  
 
Ms. Skotnicki suggested Ms. Mead and Mr. Cole address the Regional Council and present 
the City of Phoenix model as the best way to conduct the street count.  Ms. Mead said a 
request could be made to be put on the Regional Council’s agenda.  Both Ms. Mead and Mr. 
Cole agreed the process would need to begin with buy-in from the coordinators.   They both 
agreed to organize a future meeting with street count coordinators to discuss standardizing 



 

the street count.  Ms. Schwabenlender expressed a level of reliability on the data provided by 
the City of Phoenix.    Chair James asked for a motion to recommend approval of 
enhancements to the 2010 Homeless Street Count planning process. 
 
Ms. Morales made a motion that Ms. Mead and Mr. Cole work with coordinators and 
different cites and municipalities to try to streamline the process and incorporate methods 
used by street count.  The motion was seconded by Amy Schwabenlender.  
 

7. Update on Project Homeless Connect and Maricopa County Homeless Awareness Week 
Amy Schwabenlender, Valley of the Sun United Way, provided an update on the Project 
Homeless Connect events taking place across the valley and plans for Maricopa County 
Homeless Awareness Week. 
 
Ms. Schwabenlender acknowledged all of the providers who have completed tracking forms; 
thanks to their efforts, tons of data has been collected.   She reported eight Project Homeless 
Connect events have been held ranging in size from 60 to 240 in Tempe and North Phoenix.  
Because of these events, more than 700 guests have been connected with services.  Ms. 
Schwabenlender said the event held at the Human Services Campus on September 11, 2009, 
served 448 guests and had 300 volunteers and more than 30 providers assisting on that day.  
Ms. Schwabenlender thanked everyone who has been involved in these efforts.     
 
She said the next Project Homeless Connect event will be held in Chandler on October 29, 
2009.   An estimated 250 people will be served.  VSUW is recruiting 150 to 180 volunteers.   
Ms. Schwabenlender noted volunteers enjoy participating at these events and clients who 
have progressed through the system are looked upon as peer leaders and also serve as guest 
guides.  These individuals are also able to engage more with chronic homeless individuals on 
a more personal level.    
 
Two additional events are scheduled for November 10, 2009 in Buckeye, and December 15, 
2009 in North Phoenix.  Ms. Schwabenlender asked for feedback on preparing the calendar 
of events for 2010; specifically with regard to any locations that have been missed.   Ms. 
Mead recommended reaching out to the Project Homeless Connect volunteers to assist those 
cities needing help with the street count.  Ms. Schwabenlender noted volunteers would be 
interested in additional opportunities to help.   
 
Ms. Schwabenlender reminded everyone it is not too late to get involved with the Maricopa 
County Homeless Awareness Week.  A draft calendar of events has been distributed and the 
next meeting is scheduled for September 24, 2009 at 10 a.m.  Faith based organizations will 
assist with the campaign kick-off on Sunday, October 25, 2009. 
 
Mr. Geasland said promoting the event has been an issue for the Continuum adding it is 
important for Committee members to participate in the event as well as getting the word out 
to others.  Ms. Mead asked if Subcommittee members want to present this topic to the 
Continuum in October.  Mr. Geasland recommended sending a letter or email to Committee 
members enticing them to participate in the Homeless Awareness Week events.  

 



 

8. Request for Future Agenda Items 
Chair James suggested discussion on the possibility of moving the Subcommittee meeting to 
other areas of the valley.  Mr. Geasland recommended an update on rapid re-housing.  Mr. 
Cole advised City of Phoenix can provide an update of Homeless Prevention and Rapid Re-
housing.  Ms. Mead asked Subcommittee members to email her any additional suggestions.  
  

9. Comments from the Subcommittee 
The were no comments from the Subcommittee 
 

10. Adjourn 
The meeting was adjourned at 3:30 p.m. 


	*John Wall, Central Arizona Shelter Services
	Members Attending
	*Lisa Wilson, City of Mesa
	Others Present

